THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

T.W. McGee, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000104

Great Deal Investing LLC, of Wyoming, Appellant,

v.

Jared Burnett, Brett Buras, Damian Bergamaschi, Steve Decker, J&B
Holdings Group, LLC, and Hatchery Hill MHC, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STUDEMAYER LAW FIRM, P.C.

/s/ J. Gregory Studemeyer

J. Gregory Studemeyer

S.C. Bar # 5416

7478 Carlisle Street

Post Office Box 1014

Irmo, South Carolina 29063

(803) 393-4399

Attorney for Appellant

Other Counsel of Record:

Joey R. Floyd, Esq.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. SOUTH CAROLINA'S RULES OF CONSTRUCTION PROVIDE THAT STATUTES MUST NOT BE READ TO OPERATE OUTSIDE THE STATE'S BORDERS. DID THE LOWER COURT DISREGARD SOUTH CAROLINA'S RULES OF CONSTRUCTION AND VIOLATE THE COMMERCE CLAUSE BY APPLYING SOUTH CAROLINA'S REAL ESTATE LICENSING SCHEME TO AN ENTITY WHICH CONDUCTED ALL OF ITS BUSINESS IN INDIANA?
2. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF S.C. CODE ANN. §40-57-10 ET SEQ. DOES NOT SUBJECT LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANIES TO LICENSING REQUIREMENTS. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO INTERPRET THE TERMS OF THE STATUTE ACCORDING TO THEIR PLAIN MEANING?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was initiated by the filing of a summons and complaint on June 6, 2024.

Therein, Great Deal Investing LLC, of Wyoming ("GDI"), a Wyoming limited liability company with its sole place of business in Indiana, alleged that it had entered into a three (3) page finder's fee contract ("contract") with J&B Holdings Group, LLC ("J&B"), a limited liability company based in Florida that is engaged in the acquisition and management of mobile home parks. GDI alleged that under the terms of the contract, in exchange for introducing J&B to a seller who ultimately closed on a contract of sale for property, GDI was entitled to seven percent (7%) of the sale price as a finder's fee.

GDI further alleged that it identified a North Carolina resident ("the seller") who owned and operated a mobile home park in Orangeburg County; introduced J&B to the seller; that the seller & J&B entered into a contract of sale for property; that J&B created Hatchery Hill MHC, LLC ("Hatchery Hill"), a new South Carolina limited liability company; that Hatchery Hill and the seller ultimately closed on the transaction; and that J&B failed and refused to pay GDI's fee following closing.

GDI named J&B, its members, and Hatchery Hill (collectively, "J&B") as defendants and set forth claims for breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. Copies of the pleadings were served upon J&B as shown by the affidavits of service on file with the court.

On June 21, 2024, J&B filed a motion to dismiss. Therein, J&B asserted that the Plaintiff had engaged in the practice of real estate in South Carolina without a license and argued that the contract was illegal on its face.

On the same day, J&B filed a motion for protective order and to quash nonparty subpoenas. Therein, J&B again asserted that the contract was illegal and unenforceable, that GDI had failed to comply with the notice requirements of Rule 45(a)(D)(4), SCRCPP, and that the subpoenas were overly broad and unduly burdensome.

On July 2, 2024, GDI filed an amended complaint providing further details and including a cause of action for civil conspiracy. Several exhibits were attached, including the contract.

On July 3, 2024, J&B filed a motion to dismiss and for judgment on the pleadings. Again, J&B asserted that GDI had engaged in the practice of real estate in South Carolina without a license and therefore the contract was illegal and unenforceable.

On July 8, 2024, GDI filed a motion for summary judgment with a supporting affidavit.

On August 19, 2024, J&B filed a motion for summary judgment with supporting affidavits.¹ On

¹ The affidavits included hearsay and "legal opinions" of J&B's lay members, but did not state "that the affiant knows the facts stated to be true of his own knowledge, except as to those matters stated on information and belief and as to those matters that he believes them to be true" as required by Rule 11(c), SCRCPP.

August 27, GDI filed a memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment and on August 28, 2024, J&B filed a memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment.

On August 30, 2024, GDI filed a memorandum in opposition to J&B's motion for summary judgment and on September 4, 2024, filed a supplemental memorandum in opposition.² This matter came before the lower court on September 5, 2024, via virtual courtroom for a hearing on J&B's motion for protective order and to quash, J&B's motion to dismiss and for judgment on the pleadings, GDI's motion for summary judgment, and J&B's motion for summary judgment. At that time, the lower court determined that the threshold matter to be decided was whether South Carolina's real estate licensing laws applied to GDI.

On October 4, 2024, the lower court advised counsel by email that it had concluded that South Carolina's real estate laws did apply. Thereafter, the court scheduled a WebEx meeting with counsel to discuss the necessity of further rulings.

On October 17, 2024, the lower court and counsel participated in the WebEx meeting. At that time, counsel for GDI advised the lower court that he had a motion to alter or amend ready for filing upon the issuance of an order. At counsel's suggestion, the lower court agreed to consider counsel's arguments submitted in the form of a memorandum. GDI's Second Supplemental Memorandum In Opposition To Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment was filed on October 17, 2024.

J&B filed Defendants' Supplemental Memorandum In Response To Plaintiff's Second Supplemental Memorandum on October 21, 2024. On October 25, 2024, GDI filed Plaintiff's

² GDI relied upon the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-30(7) limiting the application of South Carolina's real estate licensing laws to the practice of real estate *in the State of South Carolina* and case law for the proposition that South Carolina statutes have no extraterritorial effect.

Reply To Defendants' Supplemental Memorandum In Response To Plaintiff's Second Supplemental Response. Thereafter, counsel for both parties submitted emails to the lower court in support of their respective positions. On December 9, 2024, the lower court issued an Order Granting Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment.

On the same date, GDI filed a motion to alter or amend. On January 13, 2025, the lower court issued a Form 4 order denying GDI's motion. The amount involved on appeal is \$37,800.00.

Notice of appeal was timely served on January 15, 2025.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When parties file cross-motions for summary judgment, the issue is decided as a matter of law. *United States Automobile Association v. Pickens*, 434 S.C. 60, 64, 862 S.E.2d 442, 444 (2021) (internal citations omitted). Further, the interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which the appellate court reviews de novo. *See Id.*

FACTS

GDI is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Wyoming, transacting business solely in the State of Indiana. (R. p. 140, par. 4 and p. 142, par. 27). GDI has never transacted business in South Carolina. (R. p. 140, par. 6).

Jared Burnett ("Burnett") is a member of J&B. (R. p. 251, par. 1). Brett Buras ("Buras") is a member of J&B and a resident of the State of Florida. (R. p. 246, par. 1 and R. pp. 113-117). Damian Bergamaschi ("Bergamaschi") is a member of a limited liability company that is a member of Hatchery Hill MHC, LLC ("Hatchery Hill") and is a resident of the State of South

Carolina.³ (R. p. 254, par. 2 and p. 197). Steve Decker ("Decker") is employed as an accountant by a company owned by one of the members of J&B. (R. p. 256, par. 2).

J&B is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Texas. (R. p. 158, par. 1 and 2). J&B has never had a certificate of authority to transact business in South Carolina and denies that it transacts business in South Carolina. (R. pp. 158-159. par. 3, 4, 6, and 7). Hatchery Hill is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina. (R. pp. 55-57).

GDI is engaged in the business of finding mobile home park sellers across the country for mobile home park buyers. (R. p. 140, par. 5). GDI does not hold a license to practice real estate in South Carolina. (R. pp. 258-259, par. 3).

J&B is in the business of acquiring and managing mobile home parks in Tampa, Florida; New Orleans, Louisiana; Columbia and Sumter, South Carolina; and Southeast Michigan. (R. p. 238, par. 3 and R. pp. 218-223). J&B does not hold a license to practice real estate in South Carolina. (R. p. 159, par. 8).

On October 16, 2023, GDI emailed a proposed finder's fee contract ("contract") to Buras. (R. p. 141, par. 15). On October 23, 2023, Buras replied in an email, "I don't think we've met. I'd be delighted to sign this agreement and see if this park is a good fit for our capital. Please make the agreement specific to the subject property so that I can sign it. I don't need an address, you can just say 'a mobile home park in 'city'. I won't sign a blanket agreement as we

³ On May 4, 2023, Bergamaschi filed a "Notice of Change of Designated Office, Agent or Address of Registered Agent" for Dalzell Village, LLC as member with the South Carolina Secretary of State. (R. p. 33, par. 21 and pp. 39-40). Dalzell is located in Sumter County.

have deals coming to us from many people [sic] this can often get confusing. Again, happy to sign a property specific agreement and take a look to see if this is a good fit for our capital." (R. pp. 141, par.16 and p. 148). (emphasis added).

On October 23, 2023, GDI replied, "The reason we don't list the city is obvious. We have several properties we are working on. That is why the FFC is written the way it is. If you read it, you see: signing it creates zero obligation unless we bring you a property, and you close on it." (R. pp. 45 and 148). On the same day, Buras responded, "I will check with legal. Our PE Funds have rules ... some of them are weird." (R. pp. 45, 141, and 148).

On October 30, Buras emailed an executed copy of the contract to GDI. (R. p. 141, par. 17). On the same day, GDI emailed an updated contract to Buras and Buras signed it as managing member of J&B and emailed it back to GDI. (R. p. 141, par. 18).

Under the terms of the contract, GDI agreed to identify property and introduce sellers to J&B in exchange for a fee of seven percent (7%) of the final purchase price. (R. pp. 141-142, par. 19 and pp. 150-152). The contract contained an integration clause and a provision that any amendments would require a written agreement signed by both parties. (R. p. 151). The contract also included a non-circumvention clause in which J&B agreed not to circumvent, avoid, or bypass the fee arrangement. (R. p. 151).

The contract also included a provision obligating J&B to provide regular updates and to include GDI in any communications with sellers. (R. p. 151). Finally, the contract included an acknowledgement that GDI was not a real estate agent/ broker/realtor and held no professional licenses. (R. p. 151).

Immediately thereafter, GDI provided information to Buras on several properties in Ohio, Indiana, and Illinois. (R. p. 142, par. 22 and pp. 144-147). On February 1, 2024, Buras emailed a document to GDI describing J&B's business and providing biographical information about Buras, Bergamaschi, Burnett, and Decker. The document indicated that J&B was a mobile home park investor but that neither the company nor its affiliates were licensed security dealers or brokers. The document stated:

What We Do:

Asset Class

J&B Holdings Group is focused on the acquisition, optimization and management of Mobile Home Parks.

Increase Value

Through hands on management and deep operational experience, The J&B Holdings Group executes our proprietary MHP Playbook focusing on increasing value and high returns.

Markets

Market focus is driven by a significant operational advantage: We only buy in markets where we have:

- Existing, thriving assets.
- Experienced, proven management.
- Dependable, proven tradesmen.

Capital is available for acquisition, partial ownership and improvements.

(R. pp. 153-157, 219-223, and 238, par. 3).

On two pages entitled, "Where We Do It," circles were drawn on maps around Tampa, Florida; New Orleans, Louisiana; Columbia/Sumter, South Carolina; and Southeast Michigan. On another page, the areas of focus for Buras, Bergamaschi, Burnett, and Decker were listed as follows:

Buras - Growing the MHP portfolio.

Bergamaschi - Forcing appreciation on sub-institutional grade Mobile Home Parks.

Burnett - Raising capital.

Decker - Financial due diligence on all prospective real estate and business acquisitions.

(R. pp. 153-157, 219-223, and 238, par. 3).

On or about February 20, 2024, GDI identified Trishann Couvillion ("Couvillion") of Pecan Grove Digs LLC ("Pecan Grove") in Asheville, North Carolina, as a potential seller of a mobile home park in Cordova, South Carolina, and notified Buras by email on February 21, 2024. (R. p. 142, par. 24). On February 22, 2024, at Buras' request, GDI scheduled a telephone call with Couvillion to introduce her to Buras and Bergamaschi. (R. p. 142, par. 25).

On February 26, 2024, Buras requested, and GDI provided, Couvillion's email address. (R. p. 142, par. 26). All of GDI's emails, telephone calls, and text messages with Buras and Couvillion originated from GDI's office in Indiana. (R. p. 142, par. 27). No emails or text

messages were sent by GDI to anyone in South Carolina and no calls were placed to anyone in South Carolina.

Thereafter, Buras and Bergamaschi communicated directly with Couvillion about the transaction without including GDI in those communications. (R. p. 162, par. 2, pp. 177-201 and 203-211). On March 4, 2024, J&B entered into a contract of sale to purchase the property from Pecan Grove for the sum of \$540,000.00. (R. p. 214, par. 4 and pp. 224-232).

J&B wired a \$5,000.00 earnest money deposit to Smith Howell & Associates LLC ("Smith Howell") at 117 W. Luke Avenue, Summerville, South Carolina 29483. (R. p. 214, par. 5 - 6 and p. 162, par. 2, and pp. 198-200). On March 7, 2024, Buras sent an email to Couvillion with copies to Bergamaschi and Doug Laflin of Smith Howell to advise, "We will be at the park Wednesday, March 13 in the AM." (R. p. 162, par. 2, and 198). Decker sent an email to Buras and Bergamaschi dated March 7, 2024, from sdecker@burnettglobal.com, requesting that his other email address be used for J&B correspondence. (R. p. 162, par. 2, and p. 184). Thereafter, Buras and Couvillion exchanged emails with copies to Bergamaschi and Smith Howell, without including GDI, to prepare for a closing. (R. p. 162, par. 2 and pp. 176 - 207).

On March 12, 2024, GDI sent a text message to Buras inquiring about the status of the transaction. Buras responded, "Hang tight. Spring break teenager beach duties today." (R. p. 35, par. 38). Buras ceased communicating with GDI after March 12, 2024. (R. p. 142, par. 28). On April 2, 2024, GDI again attempted to reach Buras about the status of the transaction. Buras did not respond. (R. p. 35, par. 39).

On April 2, 2024, articles of organization for Hatchery Hill were filed with the South Carolina Secretary of State. (R. p. 35, par. 40 and p. 55). The initial designated office listed for

Hatchery Hill was 2875 Stamey Livestock Road in Dalzell, South Carolina, the same address listed for Dalzell Village. (R. p. 35, par. 41, p. 39, and p. 55).

On April 10, 2024, in response to an email from Rae McArthur at Smith Howell inquiring about J&B's representation, Buras replied, "We are not being represented, but our attorney reviews title work as we do." (R. p. 162, par. 2 and p. 186). In the same email, Buras provided copies of an order confirmation for Hatchery Hill as the purchasing entity, an EIN for Hatchery Hill, J&B's articles, Active Real Estate, LLC's ("Active") articles and identified Couvillion, J&B, and Active as the members of Hatchery Hill. *Id.*

Jared Smith conducted the closing on May 1, 2024, at Smith Howell's office at 1185 Sunset Boulevard, Suite B, West Columbia, SC 29169. (R. p. 35, pp. 63 - 76 and p. 167, par. 17). A Warranty Deed from Pecan Grove to Hatchery Hill was prepared by Smith Howell, signed by Couvillion, notarized in Buncombe County, North Carolina, and filed with the Orangeburg County Register of Deeds on May 20, 2024. (R. pp. 233-236 and p. 239, par. 7 - 8).

On the same day, Pecan Grove recorded a mortgage from Hatchery Hill bearing Buras' signature as managing member of Hatchery Hill. (R. p. 35, par. 44 and pp. 63 -76). On the same day, J and H Burnett, LLC recorded a second mortgage on the property bearing Buras' signature as managing member of Hatchery Hill. (R. p. 35, par. 45).

Thereafter, Couvillion exchanged emails with Buras, Bergamaschi, and Decker, who identified himself as Hatchery Hill's Financial Controller, about the transfer of utilities. (R. 161, par. 2 and pp. 170 - 176).

GDI was never notified that a closing had been scheduled or completed by Buras, Bergamaschi, anyone else on behalf of J&B, or Hatchery Hill. (R. p. 35, par. 46). Neither Buras,

nor J&B, nor any of its members, nor Hatchery Hill paid the Plaintiff's fee of \$37,800.00. (R. p. 35, par. 47).

On May 28, 2024, GDI made a formal demand for payment. (R. p. 36, par. 48). On June 4, 2024, Bergamaschi sent GDI a text message suggesting, "There was definitely a misunderstanding. Brett had a heart attack." (R. p. 162, par. 2 and p. 202). On June 5, 2024, Buras threatened to report GDI to the attorneys general in all 50 states. (R. p. 36, par. 50).

ARGUMENT

- I. SOUTH CAROLINA'S RULES OF CONSTRUCTION PROVIDE THAT STATUTES MUST NOT BE READ TO OPERATE OUTSIDE THE STATE'S BORDERS. DID THE LOWER COURT DISREGARD SOUTH CAROLINA'S RULES OF CONSTRUCTION AND VIOLATE THE COMMERCE CLAUSE BY APPLYING SOUTH CAROLINA'S REAL ESTATE LICENSING SCHEME TO AN ENTITY WHICH CONDUCTED ALL OF ITS BUSINESS IN INDIANA?

- a. **South Carolina statutes have no extraterritorial effect.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-1-10 provides, in pertinent part,

The sovereignty and jurisdiction of this State extends to all places within its bounds ...

The extent to which the jurisdiction of the State may extend beyond its borders is subject both to the state's rules of construction and constitutional limits. In *Carolina Trucks & Equipment, Inc. v. Volvo Trucks Of North America, Incorporated*, 492 F.3d 484, 489-490 (4th Cir. 2007), the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals summarized South Carolina's rules of construction on extraterritoriality, as well as those applicable to all states, observing:

In construing a state law, we look to the rules of construction applied by the enacting state's highest court. *See Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Triangle Indus., Inc.*, 957 F.2d 1153, 1156 (4th Cir. 1992). South Carolina rules of construction provide that statutes must not be read to operate outside the state's borders. The South Carolina Supreme Court has written repeatedly that South Carolina statutes "have no extraterritorial effect," *First Pa. Banking & Trust Co.*, 247 S.C. 506, 148 S.E.2d 373,374 (1966) (internal citation omitted); *see also Robertson v. Bumper Man Franchising Co., Inc.*, 364 S.C. 155, 612 S.E.2d 451,452 (2005), because "the general rule is that no state or nation can, by its laws, directly affect, bind, or operate upon property or persons beyond its territorial jurisdiction," *First Pa. Banking & Trust Co.*, 148 S.E.2d at 374 (internal citation omitted).

* * *

In assessing whether a statute is extraterritorial, "The critical inquiry is whether the practical effect of the regulation is to control conduct beyond the boundaries of the State." *Healy v. Beer Inst.*, 491 U.S. 324, 336, 109 S.Ct. 2491, 105 L.Ed.2d 275 (1989).

* * *

The principle that state laws may not generally operate extraterritorially is one of constitutional magnitude. One state may not "project its legislation" into another, *Baldwin v. G.A.F. Seelig, Inc.*, 294 U.S. 511, 521, 55 S.Ct. 497, 79 L.Ed 1032 (1935), as the Commerce Clause "precludes the application of a state statute to commerce that takes place wholly outside of the State's borders, whether or not

the commerce has effects within the State," *Healy*, 491 U.S. at 335, 109 S.Ct. 2491 (quoting *Edgar v. MITE Corp.*, 457 U.S. 624, 642 - 643, 102 S.Ct. 2629, 73 L.Ed.2d 269 (1982) (plurality opinion)); see also *Bigelow v. Virginia*, 421 U.S. 809, 822- 23, 95 S.Ct. 2222, 44 L.Ed.2d 600 (1975).

[emphasis added].

In *Robertson v. Bumper Man Franchising Co., Inc.*, 364 S.C. 155, 157, 612 S.E.2d 451, 452 (2005), the South Carolina Supreme Court was asked to determine if the South Carolina Business Opportunity Sales Act (S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-57-10 *et seq.*) applied to a contract between a business located in Texas and a Texas resident, and performed in Texas and Washington, after the Texas resident moved to South Carolina. In giving the matter short shrift, the Supreme Court stated:

The first question asks whether the Act applies to the Texas Agreement, entered into in that state and wholly performed outside South Carolina. It is unnecessary to conduct any in-depth analysis in order to conclude that the answer to this question is "no." E.g., *Ex parte First Pennsylvania Banking and Trust Co.*, 247 S.C. 506, 148 S.E.2d 373 (1966) (state statutes have no extraterritorial effect).

Id.

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