RECEIVED

May 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable T.W. McGee III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-000104
Civil Action No.: 2024-CP-38-00733

Great Deal Investing LLC, of Wyoming,.....Appellant,

v.

Jared Burnett, Brett Buras, Damian Bergamaschi, Steve Decker, J&B
Holdings Group, LLC, and Hatchery Hill MHC, LLC,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Joey R. Floyd, SC Bar No. 8491
Chelsea J. Clark, SC Bar No. 102211
Bruner Powell Wall & Mullins, LLC
Post Office Box 61110
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 252-7693
jfloyd@brunerpowell.com

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

⁴ To the extent there is any conflict, Section 40-57-30, containing the definitions for the chapter rather than the title, would control as more specific. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-5 (“The provisions of this chapter control when they conflict with the provisions of Article 1, Chapter 1.”).

⁵ The examples given in the letter are VRBO, Homeaway, and Airbnb. The letter assumes without analysis that these entities are practicing real estate. However, it acknowledges that these platforms essentially allow the owners of properties to solicit and negotiate their own transactions, potentially making them exempt under Section 40-57-240(1). This section allows for “sale by owner” type transactions without a license.

Id. at 3. The letter further acknowledges that the licensing schema anticipates real estate brokerage firms and places “certain duties” upon them in relation to clients. *Id.* at 3–4. The letter states that the interlocutor has presented “compelling reasons why [online travel agencies] should be required to be licensed under South Carolina law,” but ultimately concludes that “while individuals acting as real estate brokers, salespersons, and property managers are subject to the licensing requirements, as the law stands today, corporations are not.” *Id.* at 5. Respondents would submit that this opinion’s fixation on the meaning of “individual” is so myopic as to miss the point.⁶

It is undisputed that the Commission only issues licenses to individuals and that those individuals are grouped into three primary categories. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-110 (“The commission shall issue licenses in the classifications of broker, broker-in-charge, or salesperson, to individuals who qualify under and comply with the requirements of this chapter . . .”). Yet it is also an immutable fact that no corporate entity can act without the assistance of an individual, or natural, person. *See Harmon v. Columbia & Greenville R.R. Co.*, 28 S.C. 401, 404, 5 S.E. 835, 835 (1888) (“A corporation must, of necessity, always act through individuals, and whether such individuals are called its officers or agents . . .”); *Hypes v. S. R. Co.*, 82 S.C. 315, 317, 64 S.E. 395, 396 (1909) (“While a corporation is non-personal in its formal legal entity, it represents natural persons and must necessarily perform its duties through natural persons as agents . . .”).

This simple fact is illustrated by the law on the unauthorized practice of law as it pertains to corporate entities appearing in Circuit Court.

⁶ Indeed, the letter misses the very next statute, which says, “It is unlawful for a **person** to engage in a profession or occupation regulated by a board or commission administered by the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation without holding a valid authorization to practice as required by statute or regulation.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-1-30 (emphasis added). Because LLR regulates the profession of real estate, it is *ipso facto* illegal for a **person** to practice it without a license or authorization.

“A corporation is not a natural person. It is an artificial entity created by law. Being an artificial entity it cannot appear or act in person. **It must act in all its affairs through agents or representatives.** In legal matters, it must act, if at all, through licensed attorneys.”

Travelers Ins. Co. (NC) v. Roof Doctor, 325 S.C. 614, 615–16, 481 S.E.2d 451, 452 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting *State v. Wells*, 191 S.C. 468, 480, 5 S.E.2d 181, 186 (1939)) (emphasis added).⁷

“[B]ecause an LLC is a fictional person it can only operate through its agents, who oftentimes are its members. Accordingly, any debt, obligation, or liability the LLC incurs can only arise from the actions of an agent.” *16 Jade St., LLC v. R. Design Constr. Co., LLC*, 398 S.C. 338, 345, 728 S.E.2d 448, 452 (2012). The *R. Design* case stands for the principle that while LLC status may shield non-tortfeasor members from liability, there is still direct liability for member tortfeasors as to their own actions. Notably, Appellant did not submit affidavit evidence in this case; Mr. Johns did. Mr. Johns is not shielded from being licensed because he is a member of an LLC.

Statutes are not read one word at a time because words, phrases, or even whole sections do not exist in a vacuum. *See Synovus Bank v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 444 S.C. 30, 37, 906 S.E.2d 85, 89 (Ct. App. 2024) (citing *In re Hosp. Pricing carr.*, *King v. AnMed Health*, 377 S.C. 48, 59, 659 S.E.2d 131, 137 (2008)). “When multiple sections belong to the ‘same general statutory scheme,’ those sections ‘must be construed together and each given effect if it can be done by any reasonable construction.’” *Id.* (quoting *Hinton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 357 S.C. 327, 333, 592 S.E.2d 335, 338 (Ct. App. 2004)). Focusing on the meaning of the word

⁷ Indeed, it is worth noting that corporate entities must be represented by individually-licensed attorneys. Were Appellant to follow its two arguments through to their natural conclusion, a law firm could “practice law” law regardless of whether its individual attorneys were licensed. Moreover, under Appellant’s theories, any unlicensed individual or company located out of state could appear and “practice law” in South Carolina so long as they did not cross the state line and always appeared virtually. If Appellant was in fact convinced by its own argument, it would not have needed to retain a South Carolina-licensed attorney to pursue this case. (*See R. p. 77* (text message from Appellant’s member indicating that it had retained South Carolina attorney Greg Studemeyer to represent it in connection to this alleged claim).)

“individual” misses the forest for a single tree. That is, the Legislature could choose to have a separate registration process for brokerage firms, like it does for the construction firms of residential contractors,⁸ but it does not need to because all of the practice of real estate is done by individuals. One hundred percent of the professional practitioners of real estate are natural persons, just like one hundred percent of the professional practitioners of the law are natural persons. The entirety of the issue is addressed by the statutory scheme as a whole because a corporate entity or LLC can only act through two classes of individuals: licensed ones and unlicensed ones. This is laid out quite clearly throughout Chapter 57 of Title 40, but is most specifically illustrated in Section 40-57-135.

Section 40-57-135 outlines the responsibilities of brokers-in-charge (or property managers-in-charge), associated licensees,⁹ and unlicensed employees. Mr. Johns, the member and agent of Appellant, is not a licensed broker-in-charge, broker, or salesperson. Thus, he falls into the category of the unlicensed employees discussed in subsection (K) and his actions in negotiating a contract for a real estate commission violated the law. Appellant, as a real estate brokerage firm, violated the licensing law by letting an unlicensed employee do what Mr. Johns did. The law need not lay out a separate license category to establish that, because it is already clear from the plain language of the statutory scheme that exists.

The simple fact is that Mr. Johns violated the law together with his real estate brokerage firm by negotiating a commission based on the sale of real property. This simple issue has been clear for decades. *See* S.C.A.G. Op. “on whether or not the South Carolina Law pertaining to real estate brokers, counsellors, salesmen, appraisers, auctioneers and property managers permits the

⁸ *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-410.

⁹ Under the 2024 amendments, these are now “supervised licensees.”

payment of ‘finder’s fees’ to unlicensed persons” (Jun. 27, 1972), <https://www.scag.gov/media/tlao30bw/03074729.pdf> (hereinafter, “1972 A.G. Op.”). In that opinion, the Assistant Attorney General wrote that it is illegal for an unlicensed person to collect a finder’s fee based on the statutory definition of broker. *Id.* at 1 (“It is therefore the opinion of this office that a ‘finder’ is included within the statutory definition of a broker, and to act as such without being licensed constitutes a violation of the law.”).

In 2006, the question was considered again, in light of the *Roberts* case discussed *supra*. Again, the conclusion reached was that a referral or finder’s fee could bring an unlicensed person under the scope of a broker. Specifically, even if a homebuyer refers a new purchaser to a developer as a possible customer, a finder’s fee for that homebuyer could be illegal because it falls under the definition of “broker” in the statutory scheme. *See* S.C.A.G. Op. “concerning the legality of a developer of a residential community providing a nominal token gift to home buyers upon their referral of new home buyers who end up purchasing from that developer” (Apr. 28, 2006), <https://www.scag.gov/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/06apr28-Rankin.pdf> (hereinafter, “2006 A.G. Op.”). The letter concludes, “having determined the referring homebuyer, as described in your letter, meets the statutory definition of a broker by bringing the prospective buyer and developer together in exchange for valuable consideration, we arrive at the same conclusion reached in our 1972 opinion.” *Id.* at 4. Notably, the opinion did not say, “if the homebuyer forms an LLC to accept the finder’s fee, it may avoid the illegal aspect of the transaction.” Such an assertion is simply absurd.

If all real estate agents and brokers could avoid licensing laws simply by forming companies, there would be no point to having any licensing statutes at all—literally everyone would simply form a company. The language of a statute must be read in a sense that harmonizes

with its subject-matter and accords with its general purpose. *Gordon v. Busbee*, 367 S.C. 116, 119, 623 S.E.2d 857, 858–59 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Mun. Ass’n of South Carolina v. AT&T Communications of S. States, Inc.*, 361 S.C. 576, 580, 606 S.E.2d 468, 470 (2004)). In this case the stated purpose is to “regulate the real estate industry so as to protect the public’s interest” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-20. Appellant’s interpretation deregulates the industry. A statute must be read in a practical, reasonable, and fair manner consistent with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers. *Gordon*, at 119, 623 S.E.2d at 859 (citing *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund*, 363 S.C. 612, 622, 611 S.E.2d 297, 302 (Ct. App. 2005)). It is unreasonable to suggest that mere corporate formation completely negates the entire regulatory schema and its stated purposes. “The court will reject a statutory interpretation that would ‘lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.’” *Id.* (quoting *Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt*, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000)). Appellant’s argument makes the entirety of Chapter 57 pointless. This is not and cannot be the intent of the Legislature because it leaves the public with no protection.

e. Protection of the public is the paramount concern.

Appellant may argue that it disclosed its status as unlicensed in the contract in support of an argument about estoppel or some similar doctrine. This is misguided: it makes no difference to the application of the law what Respondents knew or did not know. Indeed, Respondents are irrelevant to the question of whether Appellant acted illegally and thus are barred from pursuing its purported claims. In considering such an argument on the basis that a homeowner knew that a contractor was unlicensed and should therefore be prevented from applying the statute by estoppel, the Court of Appeals found that the law could not countenance an agreement by private parties to avoid the statute. *See Wagner v. Graham*, 296 S.C. 1, 3, 370 S.E.2d 95, 96 (Ct. App. 1988) (“If one might avoid the impact of the statute by applying the law of estoppel, one could, by a similar

reasoning, avoid the act by agreement between the Contractor and Homeowner. Clearly this would not be allowed.”). The logic behind this holding is that the public interest as the basis for regulation of the profession is the overriding concern of the Legislature, as well as the courts. This was also addressed in the *Coffey* case, discussed *supra*. The court in that case reached the conclusion that it must prevent Wachovia from being able to pursue a loan foreclosure against Mrs. Coffey, despite expressly not condoning the conduct of Mrs. Coffey or her late husband. *Coffey*, at 77, 698 S.E.2d at 248. That is because the analysis turns totally on whether the misconduct of the plaintiff—who is seeking the aid of the court—goes against the public interest as a whole. The analysis does not take into consideration whether the defendants knew that the plaintiff was violating the law and proceeded anyway. As the *Wagner* opinion points out—parties cannot contract around the licensing laws of the state.

There is no question that the laws violated by Appellant exist to protect the public interest. Section 40-1-10 sets forth the guidelines for regulation of the various professions. The statute mandates that any law passed to regulate a profession must be for the exclusive purpose of protecting the public interest. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-1-10(B). The purpose of the Commission over real estate is “to regulate the real estate industry so as to protect the public’s interest when involved in real estate transactions.” *Id.* at § 40-57-10. Here, even if the unlicensed nature of Appellant was disclosed to Respondents, this would not matter as to whether the Courts must apply licensing laws designed to protect the public interest as a whole. This is the reason that Appellant’s argument in Section II.a of its brief is misdirected. The courts are to protect the public by enforcing the law as to all who come before it, rather than picking and choosing which parties deserve to have the law applied and which do not—such a rubric would fundamentally undermine the point of licensing enforcement. At every turn Appellant seeks evade the law while still taking advantage

of the court system to the detriment of the people of South Carolina. However, Appellant's arguments are all unavailing. The same is true for Appellant's assertions about the Commerce Clause.

III. South Carolina licensing law does not violate the Commerce Clause or the Dormant Commerce Clause.

Appellant next argues that because it is a foreign company and its member lives in another state, they are not subject to South Carolina's licensing laws when practicing real estate in relation to South Carolina real property. This is an attack on the constitutionality of state statutes. Appellant's argument first fails because it is not properly before the Court.

a. Appellant's constitutional challenge is not properly before the Court.

Rule 4(d)(4)(B) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that in "any action attacking the Constitutionality of a State statute when the State, officer or agency is not made a party, a copy of the summons and complaint shall be sent by registered or certified mail to the Attorney General." This requirement has been in place since well before the enactment of the 1976 Code. *See Lee v. Clark*, 224 S.C. 138, 144, 77 S.E.2d 485, 487 (1953) (allowing a challenge to an election law to proceed based on evidence of compliance with Section 10-2008 of the 1952 Code shown by a filing from the Attorney General). There is no evidence in the record that Appellant has provided the attorney general the opportunity to appear and defend the state laws Appellant is attacking on a constitutional basis. Appellant cannot be absolved of this failure because neither the State, nor any agency or officer of the State is a party to the case, such that the State would have been served pursuant to Rule 4(d)(4)(A) or (d)(5), SCRPC.

Presumably the Attorney General's office was not notified of Appellant's challenge because the issue was not raised by Appellant in the original briefing on the cross-motions for summary judgment. (*Compare* R. p. 271, (Plaintiff's memo in support of its motion); R. p. 267

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